1949

Valley Investment Co. v. Los Angeles & Salt Lake Railroad Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

In the Supreme Court of the State of Utah

VALLEY INVESTMENT CO.,

a Corporation,

Plaintiff and

Appellant,

vs.

LOS ANGELES & SALT LAKE RAIL-
ROAD COMPANY,

a Corporation,

Defendant and

Respondent.

Case No.

7300

APPELLANT'S BRIEF STATEMENT OF FACTS

The record shows that the above-entitled case came on for trial before the Honorable Roald A. Hogenson, one of the judges of the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, sitting without a jury, on the 7th day of April, 1948, William D. Callister appearing on behalf of the Plaintiff, and A. U. Miner appearing on behalf of the Defendant.

The record further shows that the Plaintiff and the Defendant, in open court, stipulated as follows, to-wit:

On March 29th, 1894, one Charles A. Dole had the

fee title to all of Lots 3 to 20, inclusive, and Lots 53 to 58, inclusive, of Block 5, and all of Lots 13 to 16, inclusive, Block 6, Dole's Addition, located in Salt Lake County, State of Utah (Tr. 40 and 41). On the said March 29th, 1894, the said Charles A. Dole conveyed said property to Oscar F. Hunter (Tr. 41), and the chain of title descended through various parties (Tr. 41 to 46, inclusive), to one Irene Hunter Chamberlain, who, on February 29th, 1936, received title through a bargain and sale deed. (Tr. 46) On November 21st, 1947, the said Irene Hunter Chamberlain, now known as Irene H. Chamberlain McAlpine, executed a quit-claim deed to the said property to Valley Investment Co., the Plaintiff herein (Tr. 47, and Exhibit "A", Tr. 79).

The general property taxes for 1930 on said property being unpaid, a treasurer's tax sale took place on December 22nd, 1930 (Tr. 49, and Exhibit No. 2, Tr. 79). The taxes for the years 1931, 1932, 1933, 1934, and 1935 also remaining unpaid, and there having been no redemption of the treasurer's sale for the unpaid 1930 taxes, an auditor's tax deed on said property was executed on March 31st, 1936, to Salt Lake County (Tr. 49, and Exhibit No. 3, Tr. 79). On November 7th, 1941, Salt Lake County executed a deed to said lots, naming Defendant as grantee (Tr. 49 and 50, and Exhibit No. 4, Tr. 79). The assessment rolls of Salt Lake County for 1930, and particularly the volume in which said property was assessed, did not have affixed thereto the two auditor's affidavits required by Sections 5982 and 6006, Compiled Laws of Utah 1917 (Sections 80-7-9 and 80-8-7, Utah Code Annotated 1943) (Tr. 69 and 70).

The Defendant has paid all taxes assessed against said

property for the years 1942 to 1947, inclusive (Tr. 50), and has been in possession of said property from August, 1941, to the present time, the Plaintiff and its predecessors in interest having not physically occupied said property since March 31st, 1936 (Tr. 51 to 67, inclusive).

After the trial had been concluded, and in due course, the Court found in favor of the Defendant and against the Plaintiff (Tr. 16), and made and entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Judgment (Tr. 25 to 32, inclusive), to which Plaintiff objected, submitting therewith its own proposed findings of fact, conclusions of law, and decree (Tr. 17 to 24, inclusive).

The particular portions of the Findings, Conclusions and Judgment to which Plaintiff objected, are set out below (*italics added*):

"FINDINGS OF FACT"

"6. That under date of February 29, 1936, Mindwell C. Hunter by a bargain and sale deed conveyed or *purported to convey* to Irene Hunter Chamberlain McAlpine the property hereinabove described. That on November 21, 1947, by quit-claim deed said Irene Hunter Chamberlain McAlpine conveyed or *purported to convey* said property to the plaintiff Valley Investment Co." (Tr. 26)

"7. That said taxes as so assessed for the year 1930 were not paid to Salt Lake County, and that on the 22nd day of December, 1930, a *Treasurer's sale* of such property for delinquent taxes was made to Salt Lake County. That thereafter said taxes were not paid nor redeemed and on the 31st day of March, 1936, pursuant to the provisions of Section 80-10-66, Revised Statutes of

Utah of 1933, said property was *struck off* to Salt Lake County and an auditor's deed issued to Salt Lake County therefor based upon said *sale* which had been made on the 22nd day of December, 1930, on account of said delinquent and unpaid taxes assessed for the year 1930." (Tr. 27)

"9. That although said property was on December 22, 1930, *sold* for delinquent taxes assessed in 1930, said property was not at any time thereafter redeemed by plaintiff nor by any of the predecessors in interest of the plaintiff, nor were any of the taxes paid thereon, and subsequent taxes for the years 1931 to 1935, inclusive, were not paid and were added thereto; that after the issuance of the auditor's deed to Salt Lake County on March 31, 1936, said property was carried on the county rolls as property of Salt Lake County and no taxes were assessed against nor paid upon the same, *and during the summer of 1941 the defendant Los Angeles & Salt Lake Railroad Company negotiated with the County for the purchase of said property for the purpose of constructing thereover a spur track to serve the Remington Arms Plant. That as a result of said negotiations and for a valuable consideration the defendant Railroad Company purchased said property from the County and under date of November 7, 1941, Salt Lake County made, executed and delivered to the defendant a county deed by which it conveyed or purported to convey to the defendant the property hereinabove described.*" (Tr. 27 and 28)

"12. That the above described real property *was struck off and sold* to Salt Lake County on March 31, 1936, pursuant to the provisions of Section 80-10-66, Revised Statutes of 1933; *that by amendment contained in Chapter 101 of Laws of Utah of 1939, various portions of Chap-*

ter 10 of Title 80 of Revised Statutes of Utah 1933 were amended and by such amendment the provisions of Section 80-10-66, Revised Statutes of Utah 1933, relating to property being struck off to the County, were transferred to and embodied in Section 80-10-68, Sub. 6, and said Section 80-10-68 as so amended was thereafter incorporated in and carried unchanged into Utah Code Annotated 1943 as Section 80-10-68.” (Tr. 28 and 29)

“13. That although the real property hereinabove described was *sold to Salt Lake County* for delinquent taxes on the 22nd day of December, 1930, and although said property *was struck off* to Salt Lake County pursuant to Section 80-10-66, Revised Statutes of Utah 1933, and an auditor’s deed therefor issued to the County on the 31st day of March, 1936, and in spite of the fact that the defendant received a deed to said property from the County under date of November 7, 1941, and went into possession and has held possession of the same since November 7, 1941, neither the Plaintiff nor any predecessor in interest or title of the plaintiff has filed nor attempted to file any action for the recovery of said property or for the possession thereof during any of said period of time, nor at all, until the above entitled action was commenced herein by the filing of Plaintiff’s complaint on the 10th day of January, 1948.” (Tr. 29)

“CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

“1. That the cause of action set forth or attempted to be set forth by plaintiff in its complaint is barred by the provisions of Section 104-2-5.10, Utah Code Annotated 1943, as so designated and enacted by Chapter 19, page 22, Laws of Utah 1943. (Tr. 29)

"2. That the cause of action set forth or attempted to be set forth by plaintiff in its complaint is barred by the provisions of Chapter 19, Laws of Utah 1943, designated as Section 104-2-5.10, Utah Code Annotated 1943, as amended by Chapter 8, page 19, Laws of Utah 1947. (Tr. 29 and 30)

"3. That the cause of action set forth or attempted to be set forth by plaintiff in its complaint is barred by the provisions of Section 104-2-6, Utah Code Annotated 1943, as amended by Chapter 20, page 22, Laws of Utah 1943. (Tr. 30)

"4. That the defendant is entitled to a judgment in its favor and against the plaintiff, 'no cause of action.'" (Tr. 30)

"JUDGMENT

"Now, therefore, it is hereby ordered, adjudged and decreed that the defendant Los Angeles & Salt Lake Railroad Company, a corporation, be and it is hereby given judgment in its favor and against the Plaintiff Valley Investment Co., a corporation, 'no cause of action,' and Plaintiff's complaint is hereby dismissed with prejudice. (Tr. 31)

"It is further ordered, adjudged and decreed, that the Plaintiff Valley Investment Co., a corporation, be and it is hereby barred and enjoined and prevented from hereafter prosecuting or maintaining any action for the recovery of the following described property or for the possession of any part or portion thereof, to-wit:

Lots 3 to 20 and Lots 53 to 58 of Block 5; and Lots 13 to 16 of Block 6, Dole's addition. (Tr. 31)

"It is further ordered that defendant be given judg-

ment for its costs herein incurred, hereafter to be taxed.”
(Tr. 32)

After having been served with a copy of the findings of fact, conclusions of law, and judgment, portions of which are set out above, and prior to the time the Court signed the same, the Plaintiff prepared and served on the Defendant, and filed with the Court, its proposed findings of fact, conclusions of law, and decree, portions of which are set out below, in the place and stead of those signed and filed by the Court:

“PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT

“6. That under date of February 29th, 1936, Mindwell C. Hunter executed a bargain and sale deed conveying said property to the said Irene Hunter Chamberlain; that on the 21st day of November, 1947, Irene Hunter Chamberlain McAlpine, formerly Irene Hunter Chamberlain, by quit-claim deed, conveyed all her right, title and interest in and to said property to the Plaintiff herein, Valley Investment Co.” (Tr. 18)

“7. that said taxes as so assessed for the year 1930 were not paid to Salt Lake County and that on the 22nd day of December, 1930, a purported Treasurer’s Sale of such property for delinquent taxes was made to Salt Lake County; that thereafter, said taxes were not paid, and on the 31st day of March, 1936, pursuant to the provisions of Section 80-10-66, Revised Statutes of Utah 1933, an auditor’s tax deed was issued to Salt Lake County therefor, based upon the said purported Treasurer’s Sale which had been made on the said 22nd day of December, 1930, on account of said delinquent and unpaid taxes assessed for the year 1930.” (Tr. 18 and 19)

"9. That neither the Plaintiff nor its predecessors in interest have paid the said taxes for the year 1930, nor for the years 1931 to 1935, inclusive; that after March 31st, 1936, the said property was carried on the tax rolls of Salt Lake County as property of Salt Lake County, and were not assessed; that on the 7th day of November, 1941, for a valuable consideration, Salt Lake County made, executed and delivered to the Defendant a county tax deed describing the property mentioned above." (Tr. 19)

"12. That since the Defendant took possession of the property herein described, in August, 1941, no action was brought heretofore against this Defendant, by the Plaintiff or its predecessors in interest; that the Defendant has held adversely against this Plaintiff and its predecessors for a period of six years and five months, and no longer; that the Plaintiff and its predecessors have not been in actual physical occupancy of said property during the said period." (Tr. 20)

"PROPOSED CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

"1. That the assessment of taxes on the property described above, for the year 1930, and the Treasurer's Sale on the 22nd day of December, 1930, of the same, are null and void. (Tr. 20)

"2. That the auditor's tax deed executed by the auditor of Salt Lake County, on the 31st day of March, 1936, in favor of Salt Lake County, is null and void, and is of no effect, and no interest in and to said property passed to the County of Salt Lake by virtue of it. (Tr. 20)

"3. That the payment of the consideration to Salt Lake County by the Defendant herein, on the 7th day of No-

vember, 1941, for a purported tax title, extinguished the lien for taxes and freed the property concerned from the encumbrance which theretofore existed; that the tax deed made, executed and delivered by Salt Lake County, on the said 7th day of November, 1941, to the Defendant, describing said property, conveyed no interest in and to said property to the said Defendant; that Plaintiff is owner of the fee title to the same. (Tr. 20)

"4. That the predecessor of the Plaintiff herein, holding legal title to the said property, by virtue of the provisions of Section 104-2-7, Utah Code Annotated 1943, also held constructive possession of the property concerned until the month of August, 1941, which included the first seven months of the seven-year period immediately prior to the commencement of this action; that the Plaintiff's predecessor in interest thus held possession of the property within seven years prior to the commencement of this action, as required by the provisions of Section 104-2-5, Utah Code Annotated 1943. (Tr. 20)

"5. That the property described above, was not conveyed to the County of Salt Lake by auditor's tax deed, and therefore does not come within the provisions of Chapter 19, page 22, Laws of Utah, 1943, designated as Section 104-2-5.10, Utah Code Annotated 1943, as amended by Chapter 8, page 19, Laws of Utah, 1947. (Tr. 20 and 21)

"6. That Chapter 19, page 22, Laws of Utah 1943, designated as Section 104-2-5.10, Utah Code Annotated 1943, as amended by Chapter 8, page 19, Laws of Utah 1947, does not provide a reasonable time in which to bring actions which accrued prior to the time of its enactment, for the recovery of real property conveyed to Salt Lake County prior to September 1st, 1939, by auditor's deed

under the provisions of Section 80-10-66, Revised Statutes of Utah 1933; that the provisions of the said Chapter 19, page 22, Laws of Utah 1943, designated as Section 104-2-5.10, Utah Code Annotated 1943, as amended by Chapter 8, page 19, Laws of Utah 1947, insofar as the same relate to real property conveyed to the county prior to September 1st, 1939, by auditor's tax deed, are unconstitutional and therefore void. (Tr. 21)

"7. That the Plaintiff herein is entitled to a decree of this Court declaring, ordering and adjudging that the Plaintiff is the owner in fee simple of said real property, and that the Defendant has no right, title, estate, lien or interest whatever in or to said real property or any part thereof. (Tr. 21)

"8. That the Plaintiff is entitled to a decree of this Court forever enjoining and debarring the said Defendant from asserting any claim whatever in or to said real property adverse to the Plaintiff herein. (Tr. 21)

"9. That the Plaintiff is entitled to a decree of this Court for all costs of court herein expended." (Tr. 21)

"PROPOSED JUDGMENT

"Now, therefore, it is hereby ordered, adjudged and decreed:

"1. That the Plaintiff, Valley Investment Co., a corporation, is the owner in fee simple of the property described below, and that the Defendant, Los Angeles & Salt Lake Railroad Company, a corporation, has no right, title, interest, estate or lien whatever in or to said property or any part thereof:

Lots 3 to 20, inclusive, and Lots 53 to 58, inclusive, Block 5, and Lots 13 to 16, inclusive, Block 6, Dole's Addition. (Tr. 22)

"2. That the Defendant, Los Angeles & Salt Lake Railroad Company, a corporation, be and it is hereby forever enjoined and debarred from asserting any claim whatever in and to the said real property described above, adverse to the Plaintiff herein. (Tr. 22)

"3. That the Plaintiff, Valley Investment Co., be and the same is hereby awarded its costs herein expended, hereafter to be taxed." (Tr. 22)

Subsequent to the signing and filing of the findings of fact, conclusions of law and judgment by the said Court, the Plaintiff filed its motion for a new trial (Tr. 33), which was subsequently denied (Tr. 35).

Appellant, the Plaintiff below, contends that the trial Court, in making and entering its findings, conclusions and judgment, and in denying Plaintiff's motion for a new trial, committed error as follows:

STATEMENT OF ERRORS

Error No. 1.

The fact found by the trial court in its finding No. 6 (Tr. 26) to the effect that Mindwell C. Hunter "conveyed or purported to convey" the property involved in this action, to Irene Hunter Chamberlain McAlpine, who later "conveyed or purported to convey" the said property to the Appellant, does not conform to the stipulated and undisputed evidence produced at the trial.

Error No. 2

The fact found by the trial court in its finding No. 7 (Tr. 27) to the effect that a treasurer's sale of the property concerned to Salt Lake County took place, and that said property was "struck off" to Salt Lake County, is contrary to the stipulated and undisputed evidence produced at the trial.

Error No. 3.

The fact found by the trial court in its finding No. 9 (Tr. 27 and 28) to the effect that said property was "sold" for delinquent taxes assessed in 1930, and that during the summer of 1941, the Respondent "negotiated" for the purchase of, and did "purchase" said property, does not conform to the stipulated and undisputed evidence produced at the trial.

Error No. 4.

The fact found by the trial court in its finding No. 12 (Tr. 28) to the effect that said property was "struck off and sold" to Salt Lake County, is contrary to the stipulated and undisputed evidence produced at the trial.

Error No. 5.

The fact found by the trial court in its finding No. 12 (Tr. 28 and 29) to the effect that by amendment, Section 80-10-66, Revised Statutes of Utah 1933, relating to property being "struck off" to the county, were trans-

ferred to and embodied in Section 80-10-68, Sub. 6, is contrary to fact and law.

Error No. 6.

The fact found by the trial court in its finding No. 13 (Tr. 29) to the effect that said real property was "sold" to Salt Lake County in 1930, and was "struck off" to Salt Lake County in 1936, is contrary to the stipulated and undisputed evidence produced at the trial.

Error No. 7.

The trial court erred in not finding the facts as proposed by the Plaintiff herein (Tr. 18 to 20, inclusive), particularly paragraphs 6, 7, 9, and 12 thereof.

Error No. 8.

That the conclusion of law No. 1 (Tr. 29) to the effect that Plaintiff's cause of action is barred by the provisions of Section 104-2-5.10, Utah Code Annotated, as so designated and enacted by Chapter 19, page 22, Laws of Utah 1943, is erroneous and contrary to law.

Error No. 9

That the conclusion of law No. 2 (Tr. 29 and 30) to the effect that Plaintiff's cause of action is barred by the provisions of Chapter 19, Laws of Utah 1943, designated as Section 104-2-5.10, Utah Code Annotated 1943, as amended by Chapter 8, page 19, Laws of Utah 1947, is erroneous and contrary to law.

Error No. 10.

That the conclusion of law No. 3 (Tr. 30) to the effect that Plaintiff's cause of action is barred by the provisions of Section 104-2-6, Utah Code Annotated 1943, as amended by Chapter 20, page 22, Laws of Utah 1943, is erroneous and contrary to law.

Error No. 11.

That the conclusion of law No. 4 (Tr. 31) to the effect that Defendant is entitled to a judgment in its favor of "no cause of action", is erroneous and contrary to law.

Error No. 12.

That the trial court erred in not concluding as a matter of law that the assessment of taxes for 1930 on said property, and the Treasurer's Sale on December 22nd, 1930, are null and void. (Proposed conclusion No. 1, Tr. 20)

Error No. 13.

That the trial court erred in not concluding as a matter of law that the auditor's tax deed (Exhibit No. 3, Tr. 79) is null and void, and that no interest in said property passed to Salt Lake County by virtue of it. (Proposed conclusion No. 2, Tr. 20)

Error No. 14.

That the trial court erred in not concluding as a matter of law that the payment by Defendant for a purported

tax deed to said property, extinguished the lien for unpaid taxes, and that said tax deed conveyed no interest to Defendant, and that Plaintiff is the owner of the fee title to the same. (Proposed conclusion No. 3. Tr. 20)

Error No. 15.

That the trial court erred in not concluding as a matter of law that the Plaintiff's predecessor in interest to said property, under the provisions of Section 104-2-7, Utah Code Annotated 1943, held constructive possession of said property for seven months of the seven-year period immediately prior to the commencement of this action, as required by Section 104-2-5, Utah Code Annotated 1943. (Proposed conclusion No. 4, Tr. 20)

Error No. 16.

That the trial court erred in not concluding as a matter of law that inasmuch as the said property was not conveyed to the County of Salt Lake by Auditor's tax deed and was not struck off and sold to Salt Lake County, said property does not come within the provisions of Chapter 19, page 22, Laws of Utah 1943, designated as Section 104-2-5.10, Utah Code Annotated 1943, as amended by Chapter 8, page 19, Laws of Utah 1947. (Proposed conclusion No. 5, Tr. 20 and 21)

Error No. 17.

That the trial court erred in not concluding as a matter of law that inasmuch as Chapter 19, page 22, Laws of

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