1949

Valley Investment Co. v. Los Angeles & Salt Lake Railroad Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

ARGUMENT NO. 1

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS REFUSAL TO
SIGN AND FILE PLAINTIFF'S PROPOSED FINDINGS.

Plaintiff and appellant assigned 27 errors. However, in his argument counsel for appellant did not address himself specifically to any particular assigned error but grouped them together, and the purport of the majority of the errors as assigned by appellant merely states in effect that the court should have decided for the plaintiff and against the defendant and should have signed the findings, conclusions and judgment as presented by plaintiff rather than those granting judgment in favor of defendant.

In addressing himself to such an argument under his Argument No. 1, counsel accuses the court of being "very

careless in the terminology” used in the findings and conclusions as signed, and throughout his Argument No. 1 as well as his Arguments Nos. 4, 5, 6, and 7, counsel tries to quibble over the use of words and expressions, both as used in the findings as signed by the court and as used in the statutes under consideration in this case. He criticizes the use of the expression “conveyed or purported to convey,” as well as the use in the findings of the expression “struck off and sold.” It is the opinion of counsel for the respondent that in all matters such as involved in this case we must look to substance rather than to mere form, and quibbling over the use of words will not assist us much in getting down to the real meaning of what a court intends in a judgment, nor of what the legislature may have intended in the enactment of a statute.

Counsel seems to agree with the statement in the findings, as appears in paragraph 9 as signed by the court, that on November 7, 1941, Salt Lake County executed and delivered a deed by which it “conveyed or purported to convey” the property to the defendant. The position of the defendant with respect to the use of such words is that it is immaterial whether or not the conveyance to Irene Hunter Chamberlain or to the plaintiff actually conveyed a good title, because regardless of whether such title may have been good as far as the actual documentary procedure is concerned, the grantee might still be barred by reason of limitations. The question as to whether or not the deed to the defendant by which the county conveyed or purported to convey the property amounted to a good conveyance might be immaterial if the facts are such that even assuming the

tax deed to be invalid, yet a purported conveyance would give sufficient color of title upon which adverse possession could be predicated, which might ripen into a good defense as against the plaintiff. Therefore, quibbling over the words "conveyed or purported to convey" does not get us anywhere and does not assist the court.

In paragraph (b) of his Argument 1 on page 19, counsel argues that the treasurer's sale was void for lack of proper auditor's affidavits, and he states that thus only a purported sale took place. *There was an actual treasurer's sale which took place.* Whether or not it was void because of some defect in the procedure does not say that there was no treasurer's sale and does not say that the property was not sold for unpaid taxes assessed in 1930. There was a treasurer's sale and the property was sold, but because of some defect we may admit that the treasurer's sale was void.

The same is true with respect to his argument under paragraph (d) where he says that the finding that the defendant purchased the property from the county is not true. We dispute counsel's statement. The defendant did purchase the property from the county. The fact that because of some defect in procedure the purchase may be declared void does not enable plaintiff to say that the defendant did not purchase and pay for said property.

In paragraph (e) on page 21 counsel states that the evidence does not show that defendant negotiated for the property in the summer of 1941. Perhaps there is not direct evidence to that effect, but it is inferentially shown because

the testimony does show that the defendant went onto the property and built the trackage on it during August of 1941, and no deed was issued to the property until November 7, 1941 (Tr. 57). The fact that a deed was subsequently issued by the county would at least allow the inference that when the defendant went onto the property and built its trackage there in August of 1941, there must have been some contact with the county prior to going onto the property. Whether that be a fact or not, however, is immaterial and would not constitute such error as would necessitate reversal or even serious consideration by this court.

In paragraph (c) of Argument 1, beginning at page 19, counsel criticizes the use by the court of the term "struck off and sold" to the county. We will refer to this particular phase of the matter in a later subdivision of this argument, but here again we think that we must look to the substance rather than to the mere form and look to what procedure is required and what is meant, if anything, by the words "struck off and sold" that may be different as far as procedure is concerned from what was actually done. Counsel states that the 1939 legislature completely revised the procedure to foreclose a tax lien and that Chapter 101, Laws of Utah 1939, referred to in the trial court's findings, repealed the provisions relating to the execution of the auditor's tax deed. We must dispute counsel's statement. The provisions relating to auditor's tax deeds were not repealed. Section 2 of Chapter 101, Laws of 1939, specifies the sections which were repealed and these were sections relating to the treasurer's affidavit. *The provisions relating to auditor's tax deeds were not repealed.* We will admit that

the 1939 legislature did reframe some of the wording of the statute and rearrange some of the sections as regards material contained therein, but the fundamental procedure was not substantially changed.

Counsel refers to the fact that the last nineteen lines of Section 80-10-66, which provide for the auditor's tax deed, were deleted in the amended enactment of said section. They were deleted from Section 66 but "Section 80-10-68 was enacted in its stead," as stated by counsel, and most of what was contained in those nineteen lines in Section 66 was carried over into Section 68 as amended. (See subparagraphs (5) and (6) of Section 68 as contained in Utah Code Annotated 1943.) The fact that provisions formerly contained in one section may upon amendment be differently combined in other sections does not necessarily say that they are changed so that their effect is not the same. If counsel will read the provisions of Section 80-10-68 and compare them with the provisions of the nineteen lines which he refers to as being deleted from Section 80-10-66, he will find that he is in error in his statement that "not one clause of those nineteen deleted lines mentioned above was incorporated into 80-10-68, or any subdivision therein contained."

ARGUMENT NO. 2

TAX TITLE IS DEFECTIVE.

At the outset defendant will admit that by reason of the failure of the auditor's affidavits to be attached to the assessment rolls at the time of the tax sale, defendant's tax

title is defective, and at this juncture we wish to point out that that is the very reason we are here seeking to apply the provisions of the statute of limitations as contained in Chapter 19, page 22, Laws of Utah 1943, designated as Section 104-2-5.10, Utah Code Annotated 1943. If the tax proceedings as had upon this property were not defective, then the defendant would not be attempting to rely upon any limitation statute. If the tax title was not defective, there would be no reason for any attempt to apply the provisions of Section 104-2-5.10 as contained in the 1943 statutes. In fact, if there were no defects in the tax title procedure there would be no necessity whatsoever for the provisions as enacted by the legislature and contained in said Section 104-2-5.10. The fact that proper procedure had not been strictly followed in connection with this treasurer's sale for taxes compels the conclusion that the defendant did not get a good indefeasible title from the county in its deed of November 7, 1941. That does not mean, however, that the defendant cannot claim some rights by virtue of said deed from Salt Lake County upon which it can base a possession which will be adverse to the plaintiff and which, if sufficient time has elapsed, will form an adequate basis by which defendant can bar plaintiff's right to recover the property solely upon the basis of adverse possession and payment of taxes.

The plaintiff cites the case of *Anson v. Ellison*, 140 P. 2d 653, and states that defendant has no basis to assert a lien for taxes by virtue of its purchase of the tax title or for taxes paid to the county. Defendant is not attempting to claim or assert any lien for such taxes, but defendant will

not agree with plaintiff's theory that defendant received absolutely nothing. The defendant did receive a deed from the county which gave the defendant sufficient color of title upon which it could base an adverse possession, and with that color of title the defendant went into possession and held the possession for sufficient length of time to bar plaintiff's rights if Chapter 19, Laws of Utah 1943, is applicable to the situation involved herein.

In order to save some argument with plaintiff, we again repeat that if the tax procedure had been properly followed and if the tax title were good, defendant then would have based its defense upon that tax title and upon valid procedure having been taken. The fact that the tax procedure was not strictly followed and that therefore the tax title was defective puts defendant in the position where it must prevail, if at all, upon adverse possession under the four-year statute. This court has held that a deed from the county, such as was issued to the defendant in this case, even though the same be defective, is sufficient to form a basis for adverse possession from which, if the proper time has run with the payment of taxes, the one who has held that possession and paid such taxes can set them up as a bar against a plaintiff even though the plaintiff may otherwise have a good record title to the property. See *Welner v. Stearns*, 40 Utah 185, 120 P. 490.

If in the Anson case, as cited by plaintiff, the plaintiff had secured the same tax title—which was admittedly invalid—and thereunder had held possession and paid taxes for seven years, plaintiff here would not seriously contend under such circumstances that a good title had not been

acquired by such adverse possession. Just so in the case at bar. Even though defendant may have acquired its title and possession under a defective tax title, a definite provision of our statute of limitations says that if the former owner should seek to avail himself of his record title and attempt to recover the property he must do so within four years, and under such circumstances if he does not do so within four years he is as effectively barred as he would be under the provisions of the statute where an adverse possessor not relying on a tax title has nevertheless held possession for seven years and paid taxes. At the time of the Anson case an invalid tax title gave nothing except a basis upon which one who took possession and paid taxes for seven years thereafter could perfect a defense against one seeking to assert a record title. Since that time, however, with the enactment of the 1943 statute, the legislature provided in effect that although seven years are necessary in ordinary adverse possession cases, if the adverse possession is based upon a defective tax title, then if the prior record owner wants to avail himself of his good record title he must do so within four years or be barred.

ARGUMENTS NO. 4 AND NO. 5

SECTION 104-2-5.10 AS AMENDED AND SET FORTH BY CHAPTER 19, LAWS OF UTAH 1943, IS APPLICABLE AND IS A VERY DEFINITE AND EFFECTIVE BAR TO PLAINTIFF'S ACTION HEREIN.

SECTION 104-2-5.10 AS AMENDED BY CHAPTER 8, LAWS OF UTAH 1947, DOES NOT APPLY AS A BAR

TO PLAINTIFF'S ACTION BUT IS MERELY A CLARIFICATION OF CHAPTER 19, LAWS OF UTAH 1943, SHOWING THAT SAID CHAPTER 19 DOES APPLY TO THE CASE AT BAR.

Defendant is going to change the order of the argument here and argue with respect to plaintiff's point No. 4 ahead of plaintiff's point No. 3, and defendant will combine plaintiff's Arguments Nos. 4 and 5 under this one heading.

In his argument counsel for appellant gives his own manufactured designations to various statutory provisions and refers to different sections as "Auditor's Tax Deed Statute," "Struck Off and Sold Statute," and "Struck Off and Sold Limitation Statute." Appellant attacks the finding of the court that the substance of the provisions of Section 80-10-66, Revised Statutes of Utah 1933, were transferred to and embodied in Section 80-10-68. Under the provisions of Section 80-10-66 as it existed before the 1939 amendment it was provided:

"If any property sold to the county and not assigned is not redeemed within the time and in the manner aforesaid, the county recorder shall immediately, upon the expiration of the period of redemption, file the tax-sale record for the year of original sale with the county auditor, *who shall as soon as may be thereafter make out a deed conveying to the county all such property, and cause the same to be recorded in the name of the county.*" (Italics ours.)

This provision, according to the wording as therein contained, was not taken verbatim over into the 1939 amend-

ment, and therefore plaintiff's counsel says that we no longer have an Auditor's Tax Deed Statute. The effect of Section 80-10-68 as amended in 1939 and as carried into the Utah Code Annotated 1943, while not using the same terminology, accomplishes the same purpose. Subparagraph (5) of Section 80-10-68 in the 1943 statute provides that deeds issued by the county auditor must recite the amount of taxes, penalties, etc., as contained in the latter portion of Section 66 as it existed prior to the 1939 amendment, and paragraph (5) of Section 68 goes on to provide the form of tax deed to be issued by the county to a purchaser at the May sale. Subparagraph (6) of Section 68 then provides:

“Any property offered for sale as aforesaid and for which there is no purchaser shall be struck off to the county by the county auditor, who shall publicly declare substantially as follows: ‘All property here offered for sale and which has not been struck off to a private purchaser is hereby struck off and sold to the county of_____ (naming the county), and I hereby declare the fee simple title of said property to be vested in said county.’ The county auditor shall thereupon make an endorsement opposite each of the entries in the tax sale record showing the preliminary sale of said property for delinquent taxes, substantially as follows: ‘The fee simple title to the property described in this entry was on the_____ day of May, 19_____, sold and conveyed to the county of_____ in payment of general taxes charged against the same,’ and shall sign his name thereto. The fee simple title to said property shall thereupon vest in the county. The auditor shall then deposit said tax sale record with the county recorder and the book shall thereupon become a part of the official records of

the recorder and shall be deemed to have been recorded by him. * * *

Thus the auditor, by endorsement upon the tax sale record, states and certifies over his signature that the property in question was sold and conveyed to the county, and the record is then filed with the county recorder and the title thereupon vests in the county. The certification by the auditor is that the property was "sold and conveyed to the county." The effect is the same as formerly when the auditor made a formal auditor's deed conveying the property to the county, and merely simplified the procedure by having the auditor endorse the fact of such conveyance upon the tax sale record rather than making a separate deed for the same, and then filing the tax sale record with the county recorder as a record of the title's having been sold and conveyed to the county. This distinction in wording and in effecting the conveyance to the county by endorsement on the tax sale record rather than by a separate deed is a distinction and a difference in form but not in substance, and the effect is the same as it was prior to the 1939 statute, which is that there is a preliminary sale by the treasurer, then a May sale, and if property is not purchased by some outside individual, the auditor conveys the property to the county.

We insist that the trial court was justified in saying that the substance of the provisions of 80-10-66 were embodied in Section 80-10-68 as amended by the 1939 Laws.

Chapter 19, Laws of Utah 1943, provides:

"No action for the recovery of real property struck off and sold to the county, as provided by sec-

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